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INTRODUCTION


Merrion and Booterstown are two of the most select districts in south Co. Dublin, two suburbs that have long been residential districts but which in recent decades have seen much development.


Both lie on the Merrion Road, which continues as the Rock Road through Williamstown to Blackrock; this is now one of the main traffic arteries of south Co. Dublin, with considerable volumes of traffic at morning and evening rush hours. Running close to the sea is the main railway line from Dublin to Wexford and Rosslare, which is also much used by DART services travelling as far as Greystones, Co. Wicklow.


Merrion traces its history back to the foundation of Merrion Castle in the early fourteenth century and gets its name from an Irish word for seashore, while Booterstown is also traced back to the fourteenth century, when it was called Ballybothyr, because it was on the road to Dunleary. Later, it became known as Butterstown.


In the nineteenth century, two establishments were founded that have since had a profound impact on the people they serve. First was the setting up of St Mary’s on the Merrion Road to provide a home for blind people as well as schooling for younger blind pupils. That opened in 1868, followed the year after by St John’s Anglican retirement home, which in its earlier days provided shelter for retired maids and other servants. At the time of writing (2018) St John’s is undergoing a tremendous expansion of its facilities.


St Vincent’s University Hospital has been functioning at Merrion since 1970, when the hospital moved from its original site at St Stephen’s Green in the city centre. In recent years, the new St Vincent’s Private Hospital has also been making its own contribution to increased medical facilities in the area.


In terms of residential development, Merrion has been somewhat limited; although the area between the Merrion Road and the Strand Road, facing the sea, has long been a residential area, with the addition in more recent decades of the Merrion Village apartments just off the Merrion Road. Many houses, often dating back to the nineteenth century, line the Merrion Road as it passes through Merrion. The vast new housing and office developments at Elm Park have added a new dimension to the district, although many local people are critical of their sheer scale.


It’s a sign of how recently Merrion has been in the ascendant that the huge Catholic church on the Merrion Road, Our Lady Queen of Peace, was only consecrated in 1953, replacing an earlier, temporary building fashioned from timber, known as the Tin Church because it had a tin roof. The vast car park beside the church was in the news for a different reason: A new road was proposed, linking Strand Road with Merrion Road, in order to bypass the congestion at the Merrion Gates, with underpasses for pedestrians and cyclists. The proposal generated such enormous controversy that its construction has since been shelved indefinitely.


In terms of retail, the biggest impact in the district has come from the Merrion Shopping Centre, now just over thirty years old, which is home to a vast Tesco supermarket and about twenty smaller retailers. Many of the older shops in Merrion, as in Booterstown, have been swept away in the past few decades, although one shop on the Merrion Road, Brown’s newsagents, which was founded in 1908, is still trading and continues to be owned by the founding family.


Booterstown is slightly different in that its retail and hospitality outlets are all in one street, Booterstown Avenue, which is home to two of the most renowned and venerable pubs in south Co. Dublin, Gleeson’s and the Old Punch Bowl. In the avenue, old shops have given way to new ones. Employment, too, has changed considerably. The old First National Building Society, once the main commercial employer in the district, is long gone but has been replaced by many newer businesses.


The two main claims to fame in both Booterstown and its continuation, Williamstown, which has almost been airbrushed out of existence in favour of Blackrock, are two renowned educational establishments. In Booterstown/Williamstown it’s Blackrock College, which has probably influenced the course of modern Irish history more than any other fee-paying second level school, while in Booterstown Avenue, St Andrew’s College is equally renowned.


Booterstown has become much more of a residential suburb, especially in the area between the top of Booterstown Avenue and the Stillorgan Road, while Cross Avenue still maintains its air of exclusivity and gentility for those who can afford to live there.


As with any district in the greater Dublin area, there are people who have come to fame and prominence, including the likes of Count John McCormack, the world-famous tenor, who spent the last years of his life living in a fine house on the Rock Road at Booterstown.


Booterstown is also renowned for its marsh, a great centre for bird life, an essential part of the natural heritage of the greater Dublin area.


The two districts, Merrion and Booterstown, often offer sharp contrasts but both districts form two of the more interesting suburbs of south Co. Dublin. Just beyond Booterstown is Williamstown, so understated these days that it’s often considered part of Blackrock. Originally, Williamstown village was on the Blackrock College side of the Rock Road, but around 1903 the old village was completely demolished and was reconstructed on the sea side of the Rock Road, so all the houses in present-day Williamstown date from the early twentieth century.
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TIMELINE


1334


Merrion Castle is first mentioned, although it may have been built as early as 1280


c. 1400


A small village exists in what is now Booterstown, but is destroyed before 1435 by Irish marauders


1686


A Catholic chapel is founded at Booterstown, making the parish one of the oldest in the country, dating back to 1616


c. 1706–c. 1771


The Merrion brickworks are active


1779


William Scully opens his pub at the corner of Rock Road and Booterstown Avenue. A century later, in 1879, it is renamed the Old Punch Bowl


1788


Booterstown’s first school is founded


1804–06


Martello tower built at Williamstown


1813


Church of the Assumption, Booterstown Avenue, is dedicated


1821


Church of Ireland parish of Booterstown is founded


1824


St Philip and St James’ church in Cross Avenue is consecrated


1834


Merrion Crossing opened on the new railway line from Westland Row to Dunleary, now better known as the Merrion Gates


1835


Three railway stations open, at Merrion, Booterstown and Williamstown


1838


St Anne’s Convent and orphanage run by the Sisters of Mercy opens off Booterstown Avenue


1852


St Mary’s Boys’ National School opens at Grotto Place, Rock Road


1860


French missionaries found what is now Blackrock College, which has a long history of academic and sporting excellence. One of the maths teachers, Éamon de Valera, later became a Taoiseach and then President of Ireland


1868


St Mary’s Home and School for the Blind opens at Merrion


1869


St John’s House of Rest, Anglican, opens on the Merrion Road


1883


The Merrion Seawater Baths opens on the Strand, followed the following year by a pier


1902


Leon Ó Broin is born. For many years he was secretary of the Department of Posts & Telegraphs and played a decisive role in the start of the Irish television service in 1962. He was a long-time resident of Booterstown


1927


Kevin O’Higgins, Justice and Foreign Minister, is assassinated where Cross Avenue meets Booterstown Avenue


1934


Edward Ball murders his mother, Lavena, at 23 St Helen’s Road, Booterstown


1940


The temporary ‘Tin Church’ opens at Merrion, replaced in 1953 by Our Lady Queen of Peace church


1945


Count John McCormack dies at Glena on the Rock Road, Booterstown


1954


Frank Glennon buys Murphy’s pub in Booterstown Avenue and transforms it into Gleeson’s


1956


First sod turned for St Vincent’s Hospital at Elm Park, Merrion, but it doesn’t open until 1970


1970


An Taisce given lease to manage Booterstown Marsh


1970


Tara Towers Hotel opens on the Merrion Road


1973


St Andrew’s College moves from Wellington Place, Ballsbridge, to Booterstown Avenue


1973


Merrion Hall opens on the Strand Road at Merrion, on the site of the old Merrion House


1973


The Shelter Bottle Bank opens beside the Merrion Gates


1973


Booterstown Community Centre opens


1974


St Vincent’s private hospital opens beside St Vincent’s public hospital. The private hospital moved to a new centre nearby in 2010


1974


The distinctive Imco laundry and dry-cleaning company’s Art Deco headquarters on the Merrion Road are demolished


1981


Playwright Frank McGuinness moves to Booterstown


1984


German Embassy opens in a custom-built building at Booterstown


1987


Merrion Shopping Centre opens


1990


Japanese Embassy moves from Ailesbury Road to the Nutley Building, next door to Merrion Shopping Centre


1993


Caritas Convalescent Centre in Merrion opens


1998


First National Building Society converts to plc status and is renamed First Active


2001


Skehan House, the former headquarters of the old First National Building Society, is renamed Booterstown Hall


2004


First Active is acquired by the Ulster Bank. It traded as a separate brand until 2009, when it was fully absorbed into the Ulster Bank


2012


Merrion Inn on the Merrion Road catches fire; the rebuilt pub opens the following year


2013


Legendary poet Seamus Heaney dies; he lived at Strand Road, Merrion, although he always insisted he lived in Sandymount


2016


New traffic plan revealed for Merrion Gates; it proves controversial with local residents, and has (at the time of writing) been shelved for good.
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HISTORY


The earliest building of note in the area was Merrion Castle, which is believed to have been built around 1280. The site on which it was built is now St Mary’s Home for the Blind, just off the Merrion Road, opposite the Merrion Gates.


The first owner of Merrion Castle was Thomas Bagod, who also owned Baggotrath Castle, which once stood where Searson’s pub is now located on Upper Baggot Street. Bagod gave his name to Lower and Upper Baggot Street. In the first century of its existence, Merrion Castle had a number of owners after Thomas Bagod. The castle itself was surrounded by fields, gardens and stables and the village of Merrion started to develop, to house all the people needed to work both in the castle and on its surrounding lands.


Merrion Castle and Booterstown were both mentioned in the 1488 Act that defined the boundaries of the Pale, that part of Ireland centred on the then small city of Dublin, which contained the main English-occupied areas of Ireland.


As for the name of this castle and the new village, they went under a variety of names, including Mirryyong and Meryon. It’s also possible that originally the name of Merrion had been given to this whole stretch of coastline on the southern shores of Dublin Bay. The present-day name of Merrion is an anglicisation of the Irish word for seashore, Muirbhthean.


The original medieval castle was quite primitive and it was later replaced by a more intricate manor house. The historian F. Elrington Ball, who lived for part of his life in Booterstown and who is still regarded as the leading authority on the early history of Co. Dublin, wrote that in the sixteenth century Merrion Castle would have been a stately home surrounded by gardens, orchards and fields of corn. By the mid-eighteenth century, Merrion Castle had a neighbouring grand house, Elm Park House. At this stage, the castle itself appears to have been in ruins. In 1766, Gabriel Beranger did a drawing of the crenellated ruins of Merrion Castle, which is now in the safe custody of the National Library of Ireland.


By the end of the fourteenth century, Merrion Castle had come into the possession of the Fitzwilliam family and in subsequent centuries they held much sway over the land of south Co. Dublin, as they were the predominant landlords. The Fitzwilliam line died out in 1816 and they were succeeded by the Earls of Pembroke, to whom they were related by marriage, hence the Pembroke Estates, which controlled so much of the district.


In the eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries, Merrion became known for an entirely different reason: sea bathing. The Strand at Merrion was then ideal for this activity, and villas were built close to the shoreline; these were rented out during the summer months to visitors from Dublin. The building of a seawall at Merrion in the 1790s enabled house building in the area to expand.


By 1841, Merrion had grown into quite a substantial village, with 523 people living in a total of seventy-two houses. The arrival of the railway line from Westland Row to Dunleary in 1834 (there was even a station at Merrion that finally closed in 1935) started to make the area much more accessible for commuters who wanted to live in a pleasant seaside atmosphere and work in Dublin city centre. When the first horse trams arrived in 1872, the commuting trend was facilitated. Many of the houses and cottages that line both sides of the Merrion Road at Merrion were built in the 1850s, an indication of how popular the district had become.
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